A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred in giving a flawed "to convict" instruction, 

in violation of due process. 

2. Appellant's right to a public trial was violated by the 

removal of a sitting juror outside of open court. 

3. The court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence. 

4. The court erred in admitting the victim's out-of-court 

statement that she knew appellant was having an affair. 

5. The court erred in admitting Exhibit 85 in its totality and in 

denying appellant's motion for mistrial in connection with that exhibit. 

6. Cumulative error deprived appellant of his due process 

right to a fair trial. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Whether the conviction must be reversed because the "to 

convict" instruction (1) did not make it clear to the jury that it must acquit 

appellant if the State failed to prove a single element of the crime under 

each of the alternatives and (2) did not clearly require the jury to find each 

element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt? 

2. Whether appellant's constitutional right to a public trial was 

violated because a sitting juror was released from service during trial by 

the bailiff outside of open court? 
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3. Whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence of 

appellant's womamzmg and spiking his wife's drink under ER 404(b) 

because such evidence was not admissible to prove motive and any 

probative value was outweighed by its unfair prejudicial effect? 

4. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the victim's 

statement that she knew her husband was having an affair because the 

victim's state of mind was not relevant to a material issue at trial? 

5. Whether the probative value of admitting voicemail 

messages from the victim's family and friends expressing worry and love 

after the victim went missing was outweighed by its prejudicial effect? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

a. }Jretrial 

The State charged Martin David Pietz with the second degree 

murder of his wife, Nicole Pietz, I on or about January 27 and 28, 2006. 

CP 10. A major issue was whether allegations of Pietz's extramarital 

affairs, sexual interest in other women, and an attempt to loosen his wife's 

sexual inhibitions by spiking her drink at a club should be admitted under 

ER 404(b). CP 25-42, 50-51 , 377-89. Over defense objection, the court 

admitted such evidence on the theory that Pietz's marital dissatisfaction 

I To avoid confusion, this brief refers to Martin David Pietz by his last 
name and Nicole Pietz by her first name, as she was generally referred to 
at trial. 
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provided a motive for the killing. 1 RP2 62-70, 89-95 , 109, 111; 2RP 24-

25; 3RP 5-12; 4RP 33-36; 6RP 4,11-14; llRP 120-22. 

b. Trial 

Pietz and Nicole were married in April 2002. 5RP 52. Nicole was 

In Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) because she had abused prescription 

drugs in the past. 5RP 20-21, 51. Near the time of her death in 2006, she 

was experiencing severe back pain and was prescribed pain pills. 5RP 21, 

52-53,74, 130-31; 14RP 132. Nicole was expected to celebrate a sobriety 

anniversary at an AA meeting on the morning of Saturday, January 28, 

2006. 5RP 24-27. She never showed up. 5RP 28-30. Nicole was 

expected at a dinner with friends and her husband later that night but she 

did not arrive. 5RP 132-34. 

Pietz called 911 to report his wife missing on the night of January 

28. 5RP 158. He told the responding officer that his wife was asleep 

when he arrived home and she was gone when he woke up later that 

morning. 5RP 160. She left her wedding ring behind; her medication, 

purse and car were gone. 5RP 160. He was afraid she had relapsed into 

2 The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1 RP -
9/9/13; 2RP - 9110/13; 3RP - 9/11113; 4RP - 9/12/13; 5RP - 9/16/13; 6RP-
9117113; 7RP - 9118113; 8RP - 9119113 and 11/7/13; 9RP - 9/30113 ; 10RP-
1011/13; llRP - 10/2/13; 12RP - 10/3113; 13RP - 10/7113; 14RP - 10/8113; 
15RP - 10/9/ 13; 16RP - 10114/13; 17RP - 10/29113 (incorrectly noted as 
10/29112 on cover sheet). 

,., 
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medication abuse. 5RP 160. The deputy asked if they had argued that 

night. 5RP 161. The deputy testified that Pietz initially said there was no 

argument but later said there was a possibly a disagreement of some sort. 

5RP 161, 163.3 

Pietz called Nicole's parents on the morning of January 29 to let 

them know Nicole was missing. 5RP 199-200. Pietz told Nicole's 

stepfather that she had been wearing her dental retainer out in public from 

time to time. 5RP 202-03. He also mentioned to her stepfather and sister 

that they had stopped wearing their wedding rings.4 5RP 55-57, 66, 202. 

To Nicole's sister, he pointed out the empty prescription pill bottle on the 

bathroom counter and said "she must have taken them." 5RP 57. She 

asked him whether they had been fighting. 5RP 58. He said no. 5RP 58. 

Pietz sent out an email asking for help in locating Nicole. 5RP 31 , 

145; 6RP 48-49. Pietz told family and friends that he came home around 

midnight and found Nicole in bed. 5RP 32; 10RP 116-17. He went to 

sleep and when he woke up that morning around 8:30 Nicole was gone. 

3 The deputy's 2006 report reflects that Pietz said there was no argument. 
5RP 161, 166-67. The deputy did not include Pietz's other statement 
because it was so vague. 5RP 161-62. 
4 Nicole's sister and the woman Nicole sponsored for AA testified Nicole 
was proud of her wedding rings and never went anywhere without them. 
5RP 20, 32, 56-57. 
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5RP 32-33; 10RP 116-17. Pietz expressed concern that Nicole might have 

relapsed because her pill bottle was empty. 5RP 31-32; 6RP 196. 

Sergeant Fenske followed up on January 29. 5RP 173-77. Pietz 

said he last saw his wife a bit after midnight on the 27th and related the 

same basic version of events he told others. 5RP 178-81; Ex. 19. Pietz 

said he tried to call Nicole and it went to voicemail. 5RP 181. 

Friends and family called Nicole's phone and inquired as to her 

whereabouts, but received no response. 5RP 30,101-02,134-35,140,208. 

Phone records did not show any call from Pietz's phone to Nicole's phone 

after January 28. 11RP 82. 

Over defense objection, the court allowed Nicole's co-worker Mr. 

Twitchell to testify that on January 27 Nicole told him "I know that David 

is having an affair." 1 RP 72-80; 5RP 72-76; CP 52. Nicole was sad, 

dumbfounded and furious. 5RP 75-78. 

Mr. Wageman worked with Pietz at a gym called 24 Hour Fitness. 

6RP 183. Pietz told Wageman that he was worried about a fight they had, 

the details of which were not described, and that this was possibly a reason 

why she was missing. 6RP 197-98. Pietz did not get a promotion 

sometime before Nicole went missing and was upset because he wanted 

more money, but was not inordinately angry. 6RP 189-91, 204-05. 
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Deputy Sheriff Pince spoke with Pietz on January 31. 8RP 15. 

Pietz told him there were no problems with the marriage. 8RP 16. There 

was a financial issue surrounding a new condo they had just purchased. 

8RP 16. Pietz said he found Nicole's wedding ring and that Nicole 

normally wore her ring when she went out. 8RP 18. He also said her 

dental retainer was missing, which she sometimes wore when she was 

running out for a quick trip to the store and the like. 8RP 18. He said 

Nicole could be wearing a tennis bracelet. 8RP 18. 

Cell phone records show a 21 second phone call was made to 

Pietz's place of work at the gym from Nicole's cell phone on January 28 at 

11:50 a.m. 10RP 53, 56-57, 67, 82. The gym receptionist did not 

remember getting a call from Nicole before noon that day, but 

acknowledged that video showed she picked up the phone. 10RP 199-200, 

215. Pietz told others that he had missed the call because he was in an 

area of the gym where he could not hear the page. 5RP 207; 6RP 54-55, 

199; 10RP 116-17. Surveillance cameras show Pietz leaving the area of 

the gym monitored by cameras shortly before the call was made and then 

returning to a monitored area 10 minutes later. 10RP 184-92. 

A phone company employee created a map based on a simulated 

computer model to predict the coverage area for the cell phone towers in 

the vicinity of the gym and concluded with 90 to 95 percent certainty that 
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the outgoing call from Nicole's phone originated in an area near the gym. 

10RP 66-68, 71-73, 102. There are a variety of factors that can cause a 

call signal to not bounce off the closest cell tower and transfer to another 

tower further away, including a tower not working properly. 10RP 61-62, 

72-73, 80-96. There was a maintenance problem with the tower at issue in 

Pietz's case, which could have affected its performance. 10RP 86-91. The 

map used for trial did not take into account maintenance or call capacity 

issues.5 10RP 96-97,103. 

On February 6, Nicole's body was discovered in a secluded area in 

Burien, underneath some blackberry bushes. 6RP 24-30; 8RP 5-8. 

Detective Decker opined the body was laid under the bushes. 7RP 90, 155. 

A dental device was in Nicole's mouth. 13RP 140.6 Detective Decker met 

with Pietz at his residence later that day. 7RP 115. Upon being told his 

wife's body had been found, Pietz appeared upset, began to sob and hold 

onto his father, went into a fetal position, and then excused himself, saying 

he was going to be sick to his stomach. 7RP 116, 139, 175. 

5 According to Detective Mellis, 45 of 63 cell phone calls that Pietz made 
from his phone during work hours in January 2006 connected with the 
same cell sector as the phone call on 11 :50 a.m. on January 28, and those 
that did not were placed during lunch. 11 RP 102-04, 130-31, 150. 
6 Several witnesses maintained Nicole did not wear her dental device 
outside the home. 5RP 18-20, 50; 11 RP 181. 
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A forensic pathologist determined the cause of death to be 

strangulation. 13RP 171. There was bruising on Nicole's cheek from a 

blunt force made before she died, as well as bruising on her neck and other 

parts of her body. 13RP 151-55. A low amount of Oxycodone was found 

in Nicole's system, which did not indicate long-term use. 7 11RP 205-10, 

213; 13RP 184-85, 191. 

The pathologist estimated, based on the state of the body, that 

Nicole had been dead a week, give or take two or three days. 13RP 136, 

174-75. Detective Decker opined Nicole's body had been there between 

five and nine days based on the aging effects of vegetation associated with 

the body. 7RP 99, 108-09. 

The State also sought to estimate the time of death based on a Taco 

time receipt dated January 27, 2006, 6:22 p.m.8 13RP 38, 44, 63. Mr. 

Schneck, a forensic scientist, examined Nicole's stomach contents. 13RP 

59. He found the remains of ingredients consistent with a Mexican-type 

meal that Schneck purchased from Taco Time. 13RP 63-64, 66, 71-73 . 

The stomach contents were inconsistent with the exact ingredients of the 

7 Nicole's prescribing doctor determined she might have been addicted to 
the medication. 14RP 130. 
8 Bank account records for Pietz and Nicole show there was a debit charge 
dated January 27, 2006 from Taco time in Lynnwood in the amount of 
$5.4 7. 13RP 38. They shared a residence in Lynnwood at the time of 
Nicole's death. 5RP 134. 
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particular combination meal reflected in the receipt. 13RP 89-96, 104-05. 

The rule of thumb is that it takes four to six hours for food to move 

through the stomach and into the intestine, although it could take longer or 

shorter depending on the health or activity of an individual. 13RP 61, 86. 

The forensic examiner who conducted the autopsy opined a small meal 

might be emptied from the stomach in two hours while a large, fatty meal 

might take six to eight hours. 13RP 146-47. 

Pietz and Nicole had two vehicles, including a VW Jetta that they 

both drove. 5RP 132. Police located the Jetta in a University District 

parking lot on February 22, 2006. 7RP 179-82. The parking lot attendant 

first noticed the car on February 7. 8RP 24-26, 33-34. Pietz's DNA was 

on the gearshift, as was Nicole's and an unknown contributor. 12RP 72-75, 

119. Pietz and Nicole were possible DNA sources for the steering wheel 

and windshield wiper knob. 12RP 75-77. A print lifted from the driver's 

door interior handle matched Pietz's print. 9RP 34-35, 38, 48, 62, 69. 

The Jetta was serviced at a Les Schwab tire center on January 27. 

5RP 117. Detective Pavlovich determined 67 miles had been put on the 

Jetta from the time it was at Les Schwab to when it was recovered in the 

parking lot. 8RP 119. Based on a driving route chosen by the detective, 

the mileage from Les Schwab to the Pietz condo to the body location to 

the Jetta in the parking lot added up to 68.1 miles. 8RP 126. 
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When Nicole's co-worker offered Pietz condolences at the funeral, 

Pietz said thank you and then asked about how to go about getting Nicole's 

life insurance. 9 llRP 181. A few weeks after Nicole's body was found, 

Pietz asked a co-worker if he thought it was too soon for him to go out on 

a date. 6RP 200-01, 215, 218. Around April 2006, Pietz asked a co-

worker to get the number of a female gym client. 10RP 207-08, 209-10. 

Around the same time, he made comments about other women at the gym 

being cute. 10RP 207, 212-13. 

Pietz later worked at Chase Bank. 14RP 68. In 2011, a co-worker 

offered to appraise a bracelet he mentioned. 14 RP 71-72. When she put 

the bracelet on her wrist, Pietz said "You're wearing my dead wife's 

bracelet." 14 RP 73. After Pietz's arrest in March 2012, a co-worker 

packed up Pietz's belongings and came across the bracelet, which the 

police later collected. 14RP 50, 84, 88. 

The trial court's ER 404(b) ruling allowed the jury to hear a 

number of sordid details about Pietz's alleged womanizing. Ms. Strieck 

testified that she met Pietz when he was engaged in 2000 or 2001. 6RP 

82-83, 107. They became friendly at work. 6RP 83. He bought her a 

9 Nicole had life insurance through her employer in the amount of 
$38,000. 11 RP 183, 186. There was no designated beneficiary, leaving 
Pietz as the recipient. 11 RP 187. Pietz claimed the insurance on March 
22,2006. 11 RP 187. 
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piece of clothing and a cell phone. 6RP 84-85. He expressed ambivalence 

about getting married. 6RP 87, 90. Strieck and Pietz started a relationship 

while he was engaged to Nicole. 6RP 91-93. Strieck and Pietz stopped 

seeing one another after Strieck mistakenly reached Nicole on the phone 

and Nicole expressed suspicion about the relationship. 6RP 97-100, 112-

13. The relationship resumed after Pietz got married. 6RP 101-03. They 

had sex only one time, in 2002 or 2003. 6RP 103-04, 115-16. The 

relationship ended in 2003. 6RP 105-06, 115.10 

Ms. Duffy testified that she met Pietz in 2003 when she worked at 

Chang's restaurant, where Pietz was a regular customer. 6RP 122-23. 

They had sex after the two had been out drinking with others. 6RP 125, 

127-29. 

Ms. Hansen testified she meet Pietz at Chang's in 2003. 6RP 131. 

She kissed him and another woman at a bar one night, goofing around 

drunk. 6RP 133-34, 136. 

Ms. Stewart worked out at a gym where Pietz was employed in 

2003. 6RP 141, 158, 162. He propositioned her for a threesome. 6RP 

10 When Captain Anderson asked Pietz about extramarital relationships on 
February 7, 2006, Pietz said Nicole thought he was cheating on her with 
co-worker Strieck in 2001, but he denied actually sleeping with her. 8RP 
58. A year and a half later, after the two were married, they got into an 
argument, and Pietz slept with Strieck out of spite. 8RP 58-59. He did not 
tell Nicole about his sexual encounter with Strieck. 8RP 59. That was the 
only time he was unfaithful. 8RP 59. 
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142. She was uninterested. 6RP 142-43. He said he ended up having a 

threesome with someone else, but would rather do it with her. 6RP 157. 

He told her he was trying to convince his wife to do a threesome. 6RP 

144. 

Stewart hung out at a nightclub with Pietz and others from the gym 

on three occasions. 6RP 143, 145. Nicole did not feel comfortable going 

to clubs. 6RP 144. There was talk about using Ecstasy. 6RP 146. 

Ecstasy loosens inhibitions and makes a person more prone to intimacy. 

6RP 147. Pietz wanted Nicole to loosen up. 6RP 144. He told Stewart of 

his plan to put Ecstasy in Nicole's Red Bull beverage at the club. 6RP 147. 

The second time they went to the club, Stewart saw Pietz leave for 

the bar area and then come back with a Red Bull and give it to his wife. 

6RP 149-50. Nicole drank it and became "more sexual" with people. 6RP 

150. There was a party going on in the VIP room with about 20 people. 

6RP 151. Nicole kissed another woman. 6RP 151, 167. Nicole 

performed oral sex on Pietz, where everyone could see, while the other 

woman stroked her hair. 6RP 151-52, 167. Stewart, who took Ecstasy, 

kissed Pietz at some point that night at the club. 6RP 152, 160, 167-68. 
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Pietz later told Stewart that he had put Ecstasy in Nicole's Red Bull." 

6RP 149. 

The next time they went to the club, Stewart saw Pietz go the bar 

and bring a Red Bull back, with Nicole becoming more intimate with 

friends but not overtly sexual. 6RP 158-59, 175. Afterwards, Pietz 

became flirtatious towards Stewart. 6RP 159. She was uninterested. 6RP 

159. At some point Pietz told Stewart that Nicole had engaged In a 

threesome, the circumstances of which were not described. 6RP 162. 

About five or six weeks before Nicole's disappearance, Ms. 

Seachord met Pietz at the gym where she worked out. 11 RP 194-95. At 

some point he asked her out for coffee. 11 RP 196. She took it as "more 

than a friendly coffee." 11 RP 196. He gave her his phone number. 11 RP 

197. She did not take him up on the coffee invitation and did not call him. 

llRP 197. 

The jury also heard about Nicole's insecurities. Ms. Steussy 

became friends with Nicole in 2004. 7RP 13. Nicole asked if she needed 

to lose weight or was pretty enough. 7RP 15. Her insecurities were 

related to Pietz; she wanted to please him. 7RP 16. Towards the end of 

2004, Nicole made comments about being upset because Pietz wanted to 

II To Captain Anderson, Pietz denied putting Ecstasy in Nicole's drink. 
8RP 60. 
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go out partying while she wanted to avoid drugs and alcohol. 7RP 17-18. 

Nicole called the gym to speak with Pietz often; when he was unavailable 

she asked where he was and what he was doing. 7RP 19-20. 

At some point before January 2006, Nicole told her AA friend that 

she was starting to not feel good about herself, and asked her if she 

thought she was pretty, if she was gaining weight, and if she was a good 

person. 5RP 15. Nicole also expressed love for her husband. 5RP 15. 

Ms. Baltz worked at a gym with Pietz. 12RP 163. She overheard 

Pietz's comments to Nicole questioning the health of a food choice, 

inquiring into her amount of exercise, and suggestions about how to dress 

nicer or do something better with her hair. 12RP 164-65. Nicole was 

embarrassed. 12RP 166. Pietz called her a "fucking liar" on some 

occasions at the gym, but Ms. Baltz could not recall the context. 12RP 

167, 172. All of this took place sometime before May 2004. 12RP 170. 

Ill. Verdict and Sentence 

The jury returned a guilty verdict. CP 321. The court imposed 

220 months of confinement. CP 343. In sentencing Pietz to the maximum 

standard range, the trial judge found testimony that Pietz spiked his wife's 

drink for the purpose of having her perform a public sex act on him as 

"particularly appalling." 8RP 150-51. This appeal follows. CP 351-58. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE CONVICTION MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE 
THE "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTION DID NOT 
CLEARL Y HOLD THE STATE TO ITS PROPER 
BURDEN OF PROOF. 

The "to convict" instruction for second degree murder is defective 

because it fails to make manifestly apparent that (1) the jury must acquit if 

the State fails to prove anyone element of its case beyond a reasonable 

doubt; and (2) the jury must find each element of the State's case proven 

beyond a reasonable doubt in order to convict. This structural error 

requires reversal of the conviction. 

a. The Court Gave The Instruction Over Defense Objection. 

The "to convict" instruction given by the trial court provides as 

follows: 

To convict the defendant of the crime of Murder in the 
Second Degree, each of the following elements of the crime 
must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

(1) That on or about January 27, 2006 through January 
28, 2006, the defendant: 
a) Was committing or attempting to commit the crime 
of Assault in the Second Degree; 
b) Caused the death of Nicole Pietz in the course of and 
in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such 
crime; and 
c) That Nicole Pietz was not a participant in the crime; 

OR 
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(2) That on or about January 27, 2006 through January 
28, 2006, the defendant: 
a) Acted with intent to cause the death of Nicole Pietz; 
and 
b) That Nicole Pietz died as a result of defendant's acts; 

AND 

(3) That any of these acts occurred In the State of 
Washington.

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