NO. 71162-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MARTIN DAVID PIETZ, JR.,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MICHAEL HAYDEN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID SEAVER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THAT IT COULD CONVICT PIETZ ONLY IF IT FOUND EVERY ELEMENT OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Pietz contends that his conviction must be reversed due to the wording of the final paragraph in the trial court's Instruction No.

10:

To convict the defendant of the crime of Murder in the Second Degree, each of the following elements must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about January 27, 2006 through January 28, 2006, the defendant:
 - (a) Was committing or attempting to commit the crime of Assault in the Second Degree;
 - (b) Caused the death of Nicole Pietz in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such crime; and
 - (c) That Nicole Pietz was not a participant in the crime;

OR

- (2) That on or about January 27, 2006 through January 28, 2006, the defendant:
 - (a) Acted with intent to cause the death of Nicole Pietz; and
 - (b) That Nicole Pietz died as a result of defendant's acts;

AND

(3) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that elements (1)(a), (b) and (c), or (2)(a) and (b), and element (3) have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your verdict to return a verdict of guilty. Elements (1)(a), (b), and (c) and (2)(a) and (b) are alternatives and only one need be proved. In order to find the

defendant guilty you must unanimously agree that either (1)(a), (b), and (c) or (2)(a) and (b) have been proved. You are not required to unanimously agree which of either (1)(a), (b) and (c) or (2)(a) and (b) has been proved.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to elements (1)(a), (b) and (c) and (2)(a) and (b), and element (3), then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 312-33. Pietz asserts that the concluding paragraph of this instruction amounts to structural error necessitating automatic reversal because it fails to make sufficiently clear that the jury need not have reasonable doubt about every element of the charged crime in order to acquit. Brief of Appellant, at 18-21.

Pietz's argument should be rejected. The State recognizes that the language in the challenged paragraph could have been more carefully worded so as to explain that the jury was obligated to acquit only if it had a reasonable doubt as to *both* of the alternatives, felony and intentional murder, and not merely one. However, the unclear language here did not so "thoroughly infect the entire trial process" as to amount to structural error and, because the jury was properly instructed as to both the definition of reasonable doubt and the State's burden of proof with regard to every

element of the charged crime, the faulty wording, under the circumstances, was harmless.

A trial court's instructions must inform the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995); see also In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). This court reviews a challenged jury instruction *de novo*. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 171, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). Although no particular wording is required, the reviewing court must be assured that there is no reasonable likelihood that the challenged instruction allowed conviction based on proof less than the In re Winship standard. See State v. Castle, 86 Wn. App. 48, 54, 935 P.2d 656 (1997); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 787, 684 P.2d 668 (1984).

Here, the jury was repeatedly advised by the trial court of the meaning of proof beyond reasonable doubt and the State's heavy burden in that regard. The trial court's Instruction No. 3 defined reasonable doubt in accordance with well-established law, articulated clearly the presumption of innocence accorded to the defendant, and explained that,

as the plaintiff, the State "has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." CP 305. In the to-convict instruction (Instruction No. 10), the trial court began by emphasizing that the jury could convict only if it found that "each of the following elements" had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and then, after listing those elements, again informed the jury that it must return a guilty verdict only if it was satisfied by the evidence that the elements had been sufficiently proved. CP 312 (emphasis added).

This case can thus be distinguished from situations in which the jury was wholly mistaken about the fundamental definition of reasonable doubt or about the apportionment of responsibility at trial between plaintiff and defendant. See, e.g., Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 40, 111 S. Ct. 328, 112 L. Ed. 2d 339 (1990) (faulting instruction, which described reasonable doubt as one "that would give rise to a grave uncertainty," as requiring a higher degree of doubt than that required by Winship). When a jury is misled about the very concept of reasonable doubt, the error "vitiates *all* the jury's findings," and harmless error analysis would amount to mere

speculation as to what a jury would have done had it understood its proper task as fact-finder. Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 281, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993).

However, where, as here, a particular flaw in a trial court's instructions with regard to reasonable doubt is mitigated by the "halo effect" of other language that properly defines and sets forth the State's burden, reversal for constitutional error is unwarranted. See Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 22-23, 114 S. Ct. 1239, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994) (holding that where the trial court's instructions, taken as a whole, correctly convey the concepts of reasonable doubt and the State's burden of proof to the jury, "there can be no reasonable likelihood that the jurors applied those instructions in a way that violated the Constitution."); see generally Robert C. Power, Reasonable and Other Doubts: The Problem of Jury Instructions, 67 Tenn. L. Rev. 45, 92-97 (1999) (describing dozens of cases in which reviewing courts engaged in such balancing tests). In such circumstances, a flaw in an otherwise proper set of instructions is analyzed to determine whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury

verdict would have been the same without the error. State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002); see also State v. Lundy, 162 Wn. App. 865, 872, 256 P.3d 466 (2011) (applying harmless error analysis following use of a reasonable doubt instruction that deviated from state supreme court rulings on the subject).

The admittedly unclear language in the concluding paragraph of Instruction No. 10 was certainly harmless. Pietz asserts that the injury created by this flaw was that it may have led the jury to believe that it needed to hold a reasonable doubt as to every element of the charged offense, as opposed to just one, in order to acquit. It must be emphasized that, at trial, Pietz did not contest any elements other than the identity of the culprit. In other words, the evidence that someone intentionally killed Nicole by deliberately strangling her, in Washington, was unchallenged and more than minimally satisfied the State's burden of proof. To find prejudice, this Court would therefore need to conclude that the jury, despite doubting that Pietz was responsible for his wife's death, nevertheless convicted him because it had no such doubts about all of the

other elements of the charged crime, and mistakenly believed that this was what the final paragraph of the to-convict instruction required. Such a conclusion is absurd. A juror with even the most elementary understanding of the trial process understands that his or her role, first and foremost, is to decide whether the accused was involved in the charged criminal act.

Pietz's reliance on <u>State v. Smith</u>, 174 Wn. App. 359, 298
P.3d 785 (2013), is misplaced. In <u>Smith</u>, the jury was improperly informed that it had no duty to return an acquittal if it had a reasonable doubt. Rather, the jury was instructed that it "should" return a verdict of not guilty. <u>Smith</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 363. Division Three noted that one of the key reasons that some errors are presumptively prejudicial (and thus structural) is because of the "difficulty of assessing the effect of the error." <u>Smith</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 368-69, <u>citing United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez</u>, 548 U.S. 140, 149 n.4, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006). The appellate court, observing that the term "should" is more akin to a suggestion than a command as required by law, and noting that the jury at Smith's trial had complained to the trial court about its inability to

reach a unanimous verdict before it ultimately convicted him.² reasonably surmised that those jurors with doubts about Smith's guilt may have concluded from the faulty instructions that they were not required to acquit him if they did not want to. Id. at 369. It was in this context that Division Three cited to Sullivan v. Louisiana for the proposition that a faulty reasonable doubt instruction constitutes structural error. Id. at 368-69.

Here, in contrast, there was no dispute as to any element of the charged offense other than Pietz's status as the responsible actor, and the jury was repeatedly instructed that it could convict Pietz only if it found that the State had proved every element of the crime, including his culpability, proved beyond a reasonable doubt. It is dubious to suggest that this jury convicted him, despite questioning his involvement, due to a single instance of faulty language regarding the number of elements it needed to doubt before it could return a verdict of not guilty. This case, unlike Smith, presents precisely the circumstances under which harmless error analysis is feasible and the conclusion of such analysis

² The jury rendered its verdict after being allowed to watch a videotape of the

defendant's interview by police. During the viewing, the jury was allowed to watch portions of the video that had not been admitted into evidence during the trial. Smith, 174 Wn. App. at 364.

logically indisputable. The evidence of Pietz's responsibility was overwhelming, and the jury's verdict reflected this fact.

Finally, Pietz also challenges other language in Instruction No. 10 which, he asserts, would have allowed the jury to find him guilty if only one element among the elements identified in the instruction as (1)(a), (1)(b), (1(c), (2)(a), and 2(b) were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. See Brief of Appellant, at 19. Pietz's argument in support of this assertion is short and somewhat unclear, and it is difficult to understand precisely.³ In any event, it is hard to accept the logic of Pietz's position, inasmuch as he seems to suggest that the jury could have read this instruction to allow it to convict Pietz if it, for instance, found only that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Nicole was not a participant in the crime (element (1)(c)), and yet remained unconvinced as to all of the other elements. Such a ludicrous proposition was never argued to the jury by the State, which, in fact, took some care in its initial closing remarks to explain the purpose and meaning of Instruction

³ Pietz asserts that "[t]he instruction could be read to mean elements 1(a)-(c) and 2(a)-(b) are alternatives and only one element need be proved." Brief of Appellant, at 19.

No. 10 in accurate detail. 15RP 32-33. And it bears repeating that the jury was recurrently reminded that it could find Pietz guilty only if it decided that the State had met its burden of proof as to *each* element of the charged crime. CP 305, 312. Moreover, the jury never indicated any confusion as to these instructions.

2. PIETZ WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL.

Pietz next contends that he was deprived of his right under the federal and state constitutions to a public trial when the trial court excused a very ill juror from jury service during the evidentiary stage of the proceedings. He argues that an e-mail sent by the trial court's bailiff to the parties, prior to the commencement of that day's proceedings, informing them of the juror's current condition and explaining that "she has been released from jury service this morning" amounted to memorialization of an order by the trial court that took place outside of the courtroom. Brief of Appellant, at 21.

Pietz's argument is without merit. The trial judge took pains to explain to the parties that his bailiff neither had the authority to excuse any juror nor had she been directed to carry out his order to excuse this one. In actuality, the excusal of the juror took place in

open court, with the parties present. No infringement on Pietz's right to a public trial occurred.

Not every interaction between the court, counsel, and the defendant will implicate the right to a public trial. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Before determining whether a violation of a defendant's public trial right occurred, a reviewing court must consider "whether the proceeding at issue implicates the public trial right, thereby constituting a closure at all." Id. at 71. Whether a defendant's right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law to be reviewed *de novo* on appeal. State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 328, 334, 298 P.3d 148 (2013).

Here, Pietz relies on an e-mail sent to the parties by the trial court's bailiff before the resumption of trial on the morning of October 7, 2013, which stated the following:

Counsel.

Juror #1 called and let the court know she is ill and can no longer come to court. She has been released from jury service this morning.

Thank you.

Teri Bush Bailiff to the Honorable Michael C. Hayden....

CP 522. The bailiff sent the communication from her own e-mail address. CP 522.

Once trial commenced that morning, the trial judge provided a fuller explanation of what had transpired:

THE COURT: Be seated. Counsel, I think you have been informed that juror number one has been having some health issues during trial, and nevertheless continued to come in everyday. I am informed this morning by my bailiff that [this juror] called in, and couldn't even get out of bed this morning, because of a systemic health problem she has. So my judgment, we will proceed without her, but she will be excused.

13RP 4. Neither party objected or otherwise commented, and the trial day proceeded thereafter.

The following day, defense counsel decided to contest the prior day's release of the ill juror, now asserting that the juror had been excused outside of open court. 14RP 5. The trial court corrected defense counsel, and explained that defense counsel misunderstood the bailiff's e-mail communication:

THE COURT: That wasn't an email from me. That was an email from Teri. I had not excused [the juror] at that point. I did not complete excusing her until after I brought it up in open court, so if your issue is the open court issue, it's not accurate.

MR. OFFENBECHER: That is the issue we are raising, your Honor.

THE COURT: Well, that's not accurate because I brought it up in open court. I told you folks that she, in fact, had called in ill, and it was my intent to excuse her. I did it in open court.

MR. OFFENBECHER: Very well, your Honor. Our position –

THE COURT: Our bailiff – let me say, my bailiff has no authority to excuse a juror. She can only notify me of the condition of a juror. I'm the one who excuses the juror after I brought it up to counsel in open court...

14RP 5-6. The trial court then noted that it saw no reason to conduct a Bone-Club⁴ analysis because the actual excusal occurred in open court. 14RP 7.

Despite the trial court's clear explanation of the details of its excusal of the juror, Pietz continues to maintain in this appeal that he was deprived of his public trial right. His argument appears to be grounded on either or both of two propositions: (1) that the trial court was lying to the parties about what had transpired, and/or (2) that the bailiff possessed the authority to excuse the juror and had exercised that authority outside of open court. See Brief of Appellant, at 21 (condemning the "trial court's subsequent attempt to rewrite history") and at 26 (arguing that "even if the bailiff released the juror outside of open court without the trial court's blessing, a public trial violation still occurred.").

⁴ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (setting forth a five-factor test a court must undertake when deciding whether to close a courtroom).

As to the first proposition, Pietz presents no evidence or argument to support his condemnation of the trial court's credibility. He relies solely on the language of the bailiff's e-mail to the parties, despite the trial court's efforts to correct any risk of misinterpretation. Pietz's bare accusation should be rejected outright.

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